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STATE OF MICHIGAN

WAYNE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT

	HASSEN HARP, Individual,

Plaintiffs,

vs.

EQUILON ENTERPRISES L.L.C., d/b/a/ SHELL OIL PRODUCTS, A Delaware Limited Liability Company; DOUGLAS FALZONE, Individually; VENTURA AND ASSOCIATES, INC., A Michigan Corporation; CARROLL L. KNIGHT, Individually; KNIGHT ENTERPRISES, INC., A Michigan Corporation; CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF CANTON, MICHIGAN; AARON MACHNIK, Individually And In His Official Capacity; JUDY BLOCKAGE, Individually And In Her Official Capacity; COMMISSIONER DEMOPOULOS; VIC GUSTAFSON; COMMISSIONER JOHNSON; COMMISSIONER MCLAUGHLIN; KARL ZARBO; RONALD LIEBERMAN; COMMISSIONER WADE, Individually, And In Their Official Capacities; MELISSA MCLAUGHLIN; TERRY G. BENNETT; ELAINE KIRCHGATTER; JOHN BURDZIAK; TRUSTEE SHEFFERLY; PHIL LAJOY; And THOMAS YACK, Individually And In Their Official Capacities. 
Defendants.
	CASE NO.  CZ

COMPLAINT 
(Honorable)




Robert A. Hadous (P 32635)

HADOUSCO. PLLC

16030 Michigan Avenue, Suite 200

Dearborn, Michigan 48126

ATTORNEY FOR PLAINTIFF
PLAINTIFF’S COMPLAINT FOR FRAUD, FRAUDULENT CONCEALMENT, BREACH OF THE IMPLIED COVENANT OF GOOD FAITH AND FAIR DEALING, NEGLIGENCE, CONCERT OF ACTION, CIVIL CONSPIRACY, WRONGFUL LAND USE REGULATION UNDER TITLE 42 SECTION 1983, UNJUST ENRICHMENT AND EXEMPLARY DAMAGES

NOW COMES the Plaintiff HASSEN HARP (“Plaintiff”) by and through his attorneys, HADOUSCO. PLLC, for his Complaint against the Defendants EQUILON ENTERPRISES L.L.C., doing business as SHELL OIL PRODUCTS, a Delaware Limited Liability Company (“Defendant Sellers”); DOUGLAS FALZONE (“Defendant Falzone”); VENTURA AND ASSOCIATES, INC. (“Defendant Ventura”); CAROLL L. KNIGHT; KNIGHT ENTERPRISES, INC. (Defendants Carroll L. Knight and Knight Enterprises, Inc. are, collectively, the “Knight Defendants”); CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF CANTON, MICHIGAN (“Defendant Township”); AARON MACHNIK (“Defendant Machnik”); JUDY BLOCKAGE, (“Defendant Blockage”); COMMISSIONER DEMOPOULOS; VIC GUSTAFSON; COMMISSIONER JOHNSON; COMMISSIONER MCLAUGHLIN; KARL ZARBO; RONALD LIEBERMAN; COMMISSIONER WADE (collectively, the “Defendant Commissioners”); MELISSA MCLAUGHLIN; TERRY G. BENNETT; JOHN BURDZIAK; ELAINE KIRCHGATTER; TRUSTEE SHEFFERLY; PHIL LAJOY; and THOMAS YACK (collectively, the “Defendant Trustees”), alleging the following:
PARTIES AND JURISDICTIONAL ALLEGATIONS
1. Plaintiff is an individual who resides in the State of Michigan.
2. Defendant Equilon Enterprises, Inc. is a Delaware Limited Liability Company.

3. During the time pertinent to this Complaint, Defendant Equilon Enterprises was doing business in its name and as Shell Oil Products in the State of Michigan.
4. Upon information and belief, Defendant Douglas Falzone resides in the State of Michigan.
5. During the time pertinent to this Complaint, Defendant Douglas Falzone was an agent, employee, and/or independent contractor for the Defendant Township of Canton;
6. Upon information and belief, Defendant Douglas Falzone remains an agent, employee, and/or independent contractor for the Defendant Township of Canton;
7. During the time pertinent to this Complaint, Defendant Falzone was an agent, employee, partner, owner, and/or shareholder of Defendant Ventura & Associates, Inc.
8. Defendant Ventura and Associates, Inc. is a Michigan corporation whose registered office is at 411 West 13 Mile Road, Suite 100, Madison Heights, Michigan 48071.

9. During the time pertinent to this Complaint, Defendant Ventura and Associates, Inc. was an agent, employee, and/or independent contractor for the Defendant Township of Canton.
10. Upon information and belief, Defendant Carroll L. Knight resides in the State of Michigan.

11. During the time pertinent to this Complaint, Defendant Carroll L. Knight was an agent, employee, partner, owner, and/or shareholder of Defendant Knight Enterprises, Inc.
12. Defendant Knight Enterprises, Inc. is a Michigan Corporation whose registered office is at 40600 Grand River, Novi, Michigan 48375.

13. The Defendant Township of Canton is a municipality chartered under the laws of the State of Michigan. 

14. Upon information and belief, Defendant Aaron Machnik resides in the State of Michigan.

15. During the time pertinent to this Complaint, Defendant Aaron Machnik was the Municipal Services Director for the Defendant Township of Canton.
16. Upon information and belief, Defendant Judy Blockage resides in the State of Michigan.

17. During the time pertinent to this Complaint, Defendant Judy Blockage was a Senior Planner for the Defendant Township of Canton.

18. Upon information and belief, Defendant Commissioner Demopoulos resides in the State of Michigan.
19. During the time pertinent to this Complaint, Defendant Commissioner Demopoulos was a member of the Defendant Township of Canton Planning Commission. 
20. Upon information and belief, Defendant Vic Gustafson resides in the State of Michigan.
21. During the time pertinent to this Complaint, Defendant Vic Gustafson was a member of the Defendant Township of Canton Planning Commission.
22. Upon information and belief, Defendant Commissioner Johnson resides in the State of Michigan.
23. During the time pertinent to this Complaint, Defendant Commissioner Johnson was a member of the Defendant Township of Canton Planning Commission.
24. Upon information and belief, Defendant Commissioner McLaughlin resides in the State of Michigan.
25. During the time pertinent to this Complaint, Defendant Commissioner McLaughlin was a member of the Defendant Township of Canton Planning Commission.
26. Upon information and belief, Defendant Karl Zarbo resides in the State of Michigan.
27. During the time pertinent to this Complaint, Defendant Karl Zarbo was a member of the Defendant Township of Canton Planning Commission.
28. Upon information and belief, Defendant Ronald Lieberman resides in the State of Michigan.
29. During the time pertinent to this Complaint, Defendant Ronald Lieberman was a member of the Defendant Township of Canton Planning Commission.
30. Upon information and belief, Defendant Commissioner Wade resides in the State of Michigan.
31. During the time pertinent to this Complaint, Defendant Commissioner Wade was a member of the Defendant Township of Canton Planning Commission.
32. Upon information and belief, Defendant Melissa McLaughlin resides in the State of Michigan.
33. During the time pertinent to this Complaint, Defendant Melissa McLaughlin was a member of the Board of Trustees for the Defendant Township of Canton.

34. Upon information and belief, Defendant Terry G. Bennett resides in the State of Michigan.
35. During the time pertinent to this Complaint, Defendant Terry G. Bennett was a member of the Board of Trustees for the Defendant Township of Canton.

36. Upon information and belief, Defendant John Burdziak resides in the State of Michigan.
37. During the time pertinent to this Complaint, Defendant John Burdziak was a member of the Board of Trustees for the Defendant Township of Canton.

38. Upon information and belief, Defendant Elaine Kirchgatter resides in the State of Michigan.
39. During the time pertinent to this Complaint, Defendant Elaine Kirchgatter was a member of the Board of Trustees for the Defendant Township of Canton.

40. Upon information and belief, Defendant Trustee Shefferly resides in the State of Michigan.
41. During the time pertinent to this Complaint, Defendant Trustee Shefferly was a member of the Board of Trustees for the Defendant Township of Canton.

42. Upon information and belief, Defendant Phil LaJoy resides in the State of Michigan.
43. During the time pertinent to this Complaint, Defendant Phil LaJoy was a member of the Board of Trustees for the Defendant Township of Canton.

44. Upon information and belief, Defendant Thomas Yack resides in the State of Michigan.
45. During the time pertinent to this Complaint, Defendant Thomas Yack was a member of the Board of Trustees for the Defendant Township of Canton.
46. To the extent allowable, Defendant Machnik, Defendant Blockage, the Defendant Commissioners, and the Defendant Trustees have been named in both their individual and official capacities.
47. The matters alleged herein occurred in Wayne County in the State of Michigan.

48. The amount in controversy, excluding costs and attorney fees, is in excess of TWENTY-FIVE THOUSAND DOLLARS ($25,000.00).
49. Jurisdiction and venue are proper with this court.
50. Plaintiff hereby demands a trial by jury in this matter.
FACTS COMMON TO THE COUNTS

51. Plaintiff repeats and re-alleges paragraphs 1-50 as though fully set forth herein.

52. Plaintiff is a gas station operator who has devoted the majority of his life to maintaining and operating gas station businesses in Southeast Michigan.

53. In or about April 1987, Plaintiff became involved with the Defendant Sellers when he leased the first of an eventual five (5) Shell-branded gas stations from the Defendant Sellers.

54. As a franchisee/lessee, Plaintiff dealt in good faith with the Defendant Sellers and displayed a firm commitment to successfully operating their Shell-branded gas stations.  Plaintiff even employed many members of his own family who relied on the businesses to support their own families.
55. On or about September 24, 1994, Plaintiff entered into a Motor Fuel Station Lease Agreement and ETD Franchise Agreement with the Defendant Sellers (collectively, the “Lease and Franchise Agreement”) regarding the Shell-branded gas station operating on the property commonly known as 40400 Michigan Avenue, Canton, Michigan 48188 (the “Land” and, the “Business”).

56. As a lessee/franchisee Plaintiff was responsible for the daily maintenance and operation of the Land and Business.  During this lease/franchise tenure, Plaintiff continued to deal in good faith with the Defendant Sellers, even paying them royalties for a car wash program while under no contractual obligation to do so.

57. At the time Plaintiff assumed the Lease and the Franchise Agreement, two vacant, wooded plots of land, parcel tax identification numbers 100-99-0009-000 (“Parcel 1”) and 100-99-0010-000 (“Parcel 2”) (collectively, the “Parcels”) were immediately east of Plaintiff’s Business.

58. Parcel 1 bordered Plaintiff’s Business to the east.

59. Parcel 2 bordered Parcel 1 to the east.

60. The Parcels were zoned C-3, Regional Commercial. 

61. Under the C-3, Regional Commercial designation, use of a parcel of land for a gas station business is prohibited.

62. During his lease tenure, Plaintiff made repeated inquiries with the Defendant Township regarding the zoning classification of the Parcels.  Plaintiff specifically asked whether a competing gas station could be built on either Parcel.
63. The Defendant Township repeatedly assured Plaintiff that neither Parcel could be used as the site of a gas station business because of the C-3, Regional Commercial designation.

64. Further, the Defendant Township insisted that the Parcels could not be used for anything except an “office complex” or a “sit-down restaurant.” 

65. On or about March 22, 2002, Defendant Falzone, submitted a Special Land Use Application to the Defendant Township regarding Parcels 1 and 2 (the “Special Land Use”).

66. At the time, the Knight Defendants owned both Parcels.
67. The Special Land Use sought approval from the Defendant Township for the Knight Defendants to construct and operate a gas station on Parcel 2, thereby circumventing the C-3, Regional Commercial designation.
68. Defendant Falzone was listed as the “Applicant” for the proposed Special Land Use.

69. At the time he applied for the Special Land Use, Defendant Falzone was an agent, employee, and/or independent contractor for the Defendant Township.

70. The Defendant Township’s Ethics and Human Resources Policy (the “Ethics Policy”) provides, “All public officers, contractors, employees and volunteers shall refrain from intentionally using their respective township office or position for personal gain or benefit.

71. The Ethics Policy further provides, 

“A public officer, contractor, employee or volunteer shall not engage in or accept employment or render services for a private or public interest when that employment or service is incompatible or in conflict with the discharge of the officer’s contractor’s or employee’s official duties on behalf of the township or when that employment may tend to impair his or her independence of judgment or action in the performance of official duties.” 

“Any public officer, contractor, employee or volunteer shall not, with respect to transactions on behalf of the township, participate in negotiation or execution of contracts, making of loans, granting of subsidies, fixing of rates, issuance of permits or certificates, approving of uses or other regulation or supervision relating to a business entity in which the public officer, contractor, employee or immediate family has any financial interest.”

72. The Ethics Policy further provides that disciplinary action may be taken against any public officer, employee, contractor, or volunteer who knowingly fails to report a violation of the Ethics Policy or who deliberately withholds relevant and material information concerning a violation of the Ethics Policy.
73. Upon information and belief, Defendant Falzone (and subsequently his company Defendant Ventura) was appointed the Project Sponsor by the Knight Defendants to exert improper, unlawful, and wrongful financial and/or political influence on members of Defendant Township’s Planning Commission and Board Of Trustees to obtain Special Land Use approval.

74. Upon further information and belief, the Knight Defendants agreed and/or promised to award lucrative planning/development contracts to Defendant Falzone and/or his company Defendant Ventura upon Special Land Use approval.

75. Upon further information and belief, Defendant Machnik, Defendant Blockage, one or more of the Defendant Commissioners, and/or one or more of the Defendant Trustees knowingly and intentionally acted in agreement and/or further to a conspiracy to improperly, unjustly, unlawfully, and wrongfully approve the Special Land Use.

76. Upon further information and belief, Defendant Director, Defendant Blockage, one or more of the Defendant Commissioners, and/or one or more of the Defendant Trustees knowingly and intentionally acted in agreement and/or further to a conspiracy to improperly, unjustly, unlawfully, and wrongfully conceal and withhold material information from Plaintiff regarding the Special Land Use.
77. Upon further information and belief, Defendant Director, Defendant Blockage, one or more of the Defendant Commissioners, and/or one or more of the Defendant Trustees knowingly and intentionally acted in agreement and/or further to a conspiracy to improperly, unjustly, unlawfully, and wrongfully fail to report and/or withhold relevant and material information regarding the misconduct and violations alleged in this Complaint regarding the Special Land Use.
78. A special land use, unlike a variance, does not amend or “vary” a zoning ordinance.

79. A special land use is considered a privilege; approved only if the proposed use satisfies each and every condition listed in the applicable zoning ordinance. 

80. Under Michigan law, these conditions must be set forth in the applicable zoning ordinance and met/satisfied in their entirety prior to special land use approval.  

81. This, in part, is to prevent the imposition of improper political influence and the granting of unjust and unlawful “political favors” regarding the zoning classification of land.

82. In Michigan, municipal authority to enact local zoning ordinances derives from the Michigan Zoning Enabling Act (the “Zoning Act”).

83. Section 502 of the Zoning Act provides that a municipality may approve special land uses in accordance with the municipal zoning ordinance. The procedural and substantive conditions for special land use approval must be listed in the zoning ordinance.

84. Section 502 further provides that upon the receipt of a special land use application, the local unit of government shall provide notice of the request to the property owner and to the occupant of any structure located within 300 feet of the property being considered for a special land use, which notice shall be delivered personally or via postal service not less than fifteen (15) days before the date of a public hearing regarding the proposed special land use. 
85. Section 504 of the Zoning Act provides, in pertinent part, that a special land use shall be designed to “protect the social and economic well-being” of landowners immediately adjacent to the proposed land use and the community as a whole.
86. Section 504 further provides that special land use approval requires compliance with: (i) the standards stated in the zoning ordinance; (ii) the conditions imposed under the zoning ordinance; (iii) other applicable ordinances; (iv) and state and federal statutes.
87. The Defendant Township enacted a Zoning Ordinance pursuant to the Zoning Act (the “Zoning Ordinance”).
88. Article 27.03 of the Zoning Ordinance provides that, “the special land use review procedures and standards are intended to ensure full compliance with the standards contained in this ordinance and other applicable local ordinances, and state and federal laws, to achieve efficient use of the land, to protect natural resources, and to prevent adverse impact on adjoining or nearby properties.”
89. Article 27.03 further provides that notice of a public hearing regarding a proposed special land use shall be sent by mail or personal delivery to all persons to whom real property is assessed within 300 feet of the boundary in question and to the occupants of all structures within 300 feet not less than fifteen (15) days before the date of a public hearing regarding the proposed special land use.
90. Article 27.03 further provides that the Planning Commission and the Township board shall make a determination on the proposed special land use based on the requirements and standards of the Zoning Ordinance regarding special land uses.
91. Article 27.03 (C) provides, that special land use approval shall be based on the determination that the proposed use will comply with all applicable requirements of this ordinance and the following Standards for granting special land use approval:
-
Article 27.03 (C) (1) provides, in part, “The proposed special land use shall be designed, constructed, operated and maintained to be compatible with uses on surrounding land.

-
Article 27.03 (C) (6) provides, in part, the proposed special land use shall not unreasonably interfere with or discourage use of adjacent land and buildings or unreasonably affect their value.
-
Article 27.03 (C) (8) provides, “The approval of a special land use is a privilege granted when it can be demonstrated that there is an overriding and compelling benefit, which is in the best interest of the township as well as the petitioner.  The petitioner must demonstrate that the proposed use will enhance the economic well-being and welfare of the township and does not result in excessive duplication of provision of goods and services within the community.

92. On or about May 30, 2002, Defendant Blockage, Senior Planner for the Defendant Township, submitted a Request for Planning Commission Action recommending Special Land Use approval.

93. Defendant Blockage stated, “The Proposal is compatible with existing land uses in the area as well as the Future Land Use Map of the Comprehensive Plan.” 
94. On or about June 3, 2002, the Defendant Commissioners held a “public” hearing regarding the proposed Special Land Use. 

95. This “public” hearing would have provided the forum for Plaintiff to oppose the Special Land Use approval, and, if necessary, to pursue any administrative and/or legal remedies then existing.  However, the Defendant Township deprived Plaintiff of his right to attend this “public” hearing by failing to notify him. 
96. Upon information and belief, Defendant Falzone attended the “public” hearing.

97. Upon further information and belief, Defendant Falzone, Defendant Ventura, the Knight Defendants, the Defendant Commissioners, the Defendant Trustees, and/or the Defendant Township intentionally concealed and/or withheld notice of the “public” hearing regarding Special Land Use approval in violation of the Zoning Act, the Zoning Ordinance, and the Due Process Clause of the Constitution of the United States of America.

98. Upon further information and belief, because Defendant Falzone, Defendant Ventura, the Knight Defendants, the Defendant Commissioners, the Defendant Trustees, and/or the Defendant Township intentionally concealed and/or withheld notice of the “public” hearing regarding Special Land Use approval, none of the residents affected by the proposed Special Land Use attended the “public” hearing.
99. During this “public” hearing, Defendant Lieberman stated that:

-
Having two gas stations so close together would not be appropriate regardless of the fact that there would be a building in between them.
-
He had never seen a gas station wrapped around another gas station and was concerned that there would be a “serious financial impact” on Plaintiff’s Business.
-
He did not believe the Planning Commission, in its history, had ever voted to allow two gas stations to be constructed right next to each other.
-
He did not agree that the proposed Special Land Use enhanced the economic well being of the Township and did not want to support it.

100. Another member of the Planning Commission, Defendant Zarbo, added that: 

-
He doubted the economic benefit of the proposed Special Land Use and then questioned the need for more gas stations, warning that approval of the proposed Special Land Use would harm the Plaintiff’s Business; and

· He was surprised there were no residents in attendance.
101. The Defendant Commissioners recommended Special Land Use approval at the conclusion of this “public” hearing.  Defendant Lieberman was the sole dissenter with Defendant Wade absent and/or abstaining.  

102. Upon information and belief, notice of the “public” hearing regarding the proposed Special Land Use was not mailed to the parties statutorily entitled to notice until June 5, 2002—three (3) days after the June 3, 2002 “public” hearing actually took place.
103. The Defendant Township did not provided notice to Plaintiff regarding the proposed Special land Use at this time or at any time whatsoever.
104. The Defendant Township did provide notice regarding the proposed Special Land Use to the Defendant Sellers.
105. The Defendant Sellers did not provide notice regarding the proposed Special land Use to the Plaintiff at this time or at any time whatsoever.
106. Upon information and belief Defendant Falzone, Defendant Ventura, the Knight Defendants, the Defendant Commissioners, the Defendant Trustees, and/or the Defendant Township intentionally concealed and/or withheld notice regarding the “public hearing” and the proposed Special Land Use from Plaintiff.  Upon further information and belief, this was done to prevent Plaintiff from exercising his constitutional and state right to challenge the patently deficient Special Land Use proposed by Defendant Falzone and the Knight Defendants.
107. Upon information and belief, the Defendant Sellers intentionally concealed and/or withheld material information regarding the “public” hearing on the Special Land Use and Special Land Use approval from Plaintiff.  Upon further information and belief the Defendant Sellers were in the preliminary stages of liquidating one or all of their retail holdings in the Southeast Michigan market.  Accordingly, the Defendant Sellers concealed and/or withheld the foregoing material information to induce Plaintiff to pay more than the Land and Business were worth at an eventual sale of the Land and Business.

108. On or about June 20, 2002, a Request For Board Action to approve the proposed Special Land Use was made by Defendant Director Machnik (the “Request”).

109. The Request indicated that:

-
Defendant Blockage had recommended Special Land Use approval.

-
The Defendant Commissioners had recommended Special Land Use approval by a unanimous 6-0 vote (this statement appears false as Defendant Lieberman appears to have voted “nay”).

-
Defendant Machnik would not recommend Special Land Use approval.

· The Supervisor would not recommend Special Land Use approval without further consideration.

110. Defendant Machnik’s Recommendation stated, in pertinent part:

“Section 27.03 of the Zoning Ordinance sets forth a number of requirements that should be met and includes special land use standards.  The recommendation from the Planning Commission however, only addressed several of the criteria.  A review of the meeting minutes (June 3, 2002) seems to identify a number of concerns by the Commissioners that are not addressed and would not satisfy the Special Land Use approval criteria. “

111. On or about June 25, 2002, the Defendant Trustees held a Board Meeting regarding Special land use approval (the “Board Meeting”). The Defendant Sellers did not appear, nor cause any agent or representative to appear on their behalf or on the Plaintiff’s behalf.

112. Plaintiff was unaware this Board Meeting was taking place because the Defendants intentionally concealed and/or withheld notice of the proposed Special Land Use and related proceedings.

113. During the Board Meeting, the Defendant Trustees issued a Resolution approving the proposed Special Land Use stating, “approval was consistent with the Zoning Ordinance regulations and development objectives” of the Defendant Township.

114. Defendant Trustees McLaughlin, Bennett, Kirchgatter, Burdziak and Shefferly voted for Special Land Use approval.

115. Defendants Lajoy and Yack voted against Special Land Use approval.

116. The meeting minutes indicate that Defendant Machnik further opposed Special Land Use approval, noting:

-
There were a “great number of questions” by the Commissioners that left question of whether or not all of the conditions of the Special Land Use contained in the Zoning Ordinance had in fact been met.

-
Both the staff and Planning Commission recommendation appeared to “miss” several important issues that deal with special land use criteria, particularly, “the use being an overriding and compelling benefit in the best interest of the Township.

-
It was “extremely critical” that the Township Board hear the “compelling needs and benefits” regarding Special Land Use approval.
117. On or about July 18, 2002, Defendant Falzone submitted a Site Plan Application for the Special Land Use (the “Site Plan”).
118. Less than three (3) months after approving the Special Land Use, the Defendant Trustees unanimously amended the Zoning Ordinance to ban the construction and operation of new gas stations in C-3 Regional Commercial districts. This amendment essentially bans the construction and operation of new gas stations in C-3 Regional Commercial districts and prevents gas stations from being constructed next to one another.  
119. This amendment was passed less than three (3) months after the same Defendant Trustees granted Special Land Use approval for a gas station to be built virtually next door to Plaintiff’s. 

120. On or about October 22, 2002, the Defendant Trustees unanimously approved the Site Plan.

121. In or about 2003, construction of the Arby’s Restaurant commenced.  At that time, construction of the Knight Defendant’s gas station had not begun. Plaintiff was unaware and did not believe that a gas station would be constructed, as construction of the Arby’s restaurant was consistent with what officials at the Defendant Township had advised him regarding the permissibility of developing a “sit-down restaurant” on the Parcels.  
122. Sometime prior to the summer of 2004, the Defendant Sellers decided to formally withdraw from the Michigan retail fuel market by divesting of all company owned/dealer operated retail fuel outlets (i.e., gas stations).  In or about May 2004, the Defendant Sellers provided Plaintiff with a “Retailer” Offer to Purchase Premises for ONE MILLION THREE HUNDRED SEVENTY-FOUR THOUSAND DOLLARS ($1,374,000.00) (the “Purchase Agreement”).  The sale price was pre-determined by the Defendant Sellers and non-negotiable. If Plaintiff did not agree to purchase the Land and Business at the proposed sale price and provide a non-refundable earnest money deposit in the amount of ONE HUNDRED THIRTY-SEVEN THOUSAND FOUR HUNDRED DOLLARS ($137,400.00) within thirty (30) days, the Land and Business would be auctioned to the highest bidder; Plaintiff would then have an “opportunity” to match the highest bid for the Land and Business he devoted nearly a quarter of his life maintaining and operating.  

123. The Defendant Sellers further required Plaintiff to place the sum of EIGHTY-FIVE THOUSAND DOLLLARS ($85,000.00) in escrow for “site image improvements.”
124. The Defendant Sellers did not timely provide Plaintiff with a Purchase Agreement.  Accordingly, Plaintiff had less than two weeks to accept the offer and to tender the non-refundable ONE HUNDRED THIRTY-SEVEN THOUSAND FOUR HUNDRED DOLLAR ($137,400.00) earnest money deposit.
125. In or about June 2004, Plaintiff agreed to purchase the Land and Business for ONE MILLION THREE HUNDRED SEVENTY-FOUR THOUSAND DOLLARS ($1,374,000.00) and tendered the non-refundable ONE HUNDRED THIRTY-SEVEN THOUSAND FOUR HUNDRED DOLLAR ($137,400.00) earnest money deposit.  Plaintiff further tendered the EIGHTY-FIVE THOUSAND DOLLARS ($85,000.00), which was held in escrow for the “site image improvements.”

126. The Purchase Agreement was made subject to a Brand Covenant/Retail Sales Agreement, which made the sale and purchase to Plaintiff contingent upon Plaintiff executing an agreement to purchase fuel from the Defendant Sellers for ten (10) years (the “Fuel Supply Agreement”).

127. Execution of the Fuel Supply Agreement was a condition of the Purchase Agreement (i.e., the Defendant Sellers would not sell the Business to Plaintiff unless he agreed to buy fuel from Shell). 
128. On or about October 27, 2004, Plaintiff executed the Fuel Supply Agreement with the Defendant Sellers. 

129. Part I, Articles 2 and 4 of the Fuel Supply Agreement provided that Plaintiff would be required to purchase a minimum of ONE HUNDRED NINETY-TWO THOUSAND (192,000) gallons of fuel per month from Shell for a minimum of ten (10) years.

130. Part II, Article 2(b) of the Fuel Supply Agreement provided that if Plaintiff did not meet the minimum gallon purchase requirement by the end of ten (10) year period, he would be penalized for the difference at a rate of three cents (.03) per gallon.

131. At the time of the Purchase and Fuel Supply Agreements, Parcel 2, future site of the Knight Defendant’s gas station, was vacant.
132. At the time of the Purchase and Fuel Supply Agreements, the Knight Defendant’s gas station was not under construction.
133. At the time of the Purchase and Fuel Supply Agreements, Plaintiff was unaware that the Knight Defendants would construct a gas station on Parcel 2.  Plaintiff did not believe a gas station could be built on Parcel 2 because of his earlier, repeated inquiries with the Defendant Township regarding the zoning classification thereof.  At such times, Plaintiff was advised that the Parcels were zoned for a “sit-down restaurant” and/or an “office complex” and was further advised that a gas station would not be permitted on either Parcel.
134. The Defendant Sellers did not disclose and nothing in the Purchase or Fuel Supply Agreements disclosed that the Knight Defendants gas station would open up on Parcel 2.

135. The Defendant Sellers did not disclose and nothing in the Purchase or Fuel Supply Agreements disclosed that a roadway to the Knight Defendants gas station would be built to wrap around Plaintiff’s property, effectively diverting the traffic from Lotz Road, which bordered Plaintiff ’s property to the West.

136. The Defendant Sellers did not disclose and nothing in the Purchase or Fuel Supply Agreements disclosed for the foregoing severe diminution of value of the Land and Business known by the Defendant Sellers. 

137. At the time of the Purchase and Fuel Supply Agreements, the Arby’s restaurant was under construction.  The Defendant Township had approved a Site Plan regarding the Arby’s. The Arby’s was constructed with little frontage and essentially blocked Plaintiff’s Business from the view of travelers heading west on Michigan Avenue.  This provided the eventual Knight Defendant’s gas station with yet another improper and wrongful benefit at Plaintiff’s expense.
138. In or about late 2004 or early 2005, the Knight Defendants commenced construction of their gas station. 

139. In or about January 2005, Plaintiff became aware that a gas station was being constructed on Parcel 2.  Plaintiff complained to the Township and was informed that the landowner had obtained a special permit to construct a gas station.  Plaintiff was further informed that Plaintiff should have contested Special Land Use approval.
140. In or about February 2006, the Knight Defendants opened their gas station for business.
141. Plaintiff’s fuel sale volume and convenience store sales plummeted.
142. In or about October 2005, the Defendant Sellers assigned (i.e., sold) the Fuel Supply Agreement regarding Plaintiff’s Business to True North Energy (“True North”).

143. True North noticed a continuous and severe downward trend in Plaintiff’s fuel sale volume and inquired with Plaintiff regarding the cause of this. 

144. In or about March or April of 2009 True North representative Mr. Joseph Celusta accompanied Plaintiff to the Defendant Township’s City Hall to inquire about the Knight Defendant’s gas station. 
145. Plaintiff and Mr. Celusta were advised that the Knight Defendants had obtained Special Land Use approval to construct their gas station.

146. Plaintiff and Mr. Celusta were then provided with a list of the recipients who received notice regarding the proceedings that culminated in Special Land Use Approval.

147. Plaintiff was not included on this list.

148. The list of recipients included the Defendant Sellers.  This is when Plaintiff first became aware that the Defendant Sellers knew of the proceedings regarding the Special Land Use (prior to approval thereof) and unjustly and wrongfully took no action whatsoever to oppose it, including notifying Plaintiff. 
149. Plaintiffs fuel sale volume and convenience store sales continued to plummet.
150. In or about October/November 2009, Plaintiff was discussing the performance of his Business with friend and nearby business owner, Frank Dabaja.  Plaintiff informed Mr. Dabaja that a gentleman named Defendant Falzone had spearheaded the effort to approve the Knight Defendant’s Special Land Use.  Mr. Dabaja immediately informed Plaintiff that Defendant Falzone had performed an electric inspection at one of his businesses on behalf of the Defendant Township.  Plaintiff, livid, made a series of Freedom of Information Act (“FOIA”) requests to the Defendant Township regarding the Special Land Use, which requests and resultant findings serve as the basis of this Complaint. 

151. Upon information and belief, Defendant Falzone continues to be an agent, employee, and/or independent contractor for the Defendant Township.

152. As a result of the Defendants’ conduct, Plaintiffs fuel sale volume and convenience store sales have dropped by approximately sixty percent (60%) since the Knight Defendants opened their gas station.

153. As a result of the Defendants’ conduct, Plaintiff’s Business continues to plummet.

154. As a result of the Defendants’ conduct, Plaintiff will be subject to a three-cent penalty (.03) on every gallon of gas below the minimum fuel purchase requirement provided for in the Fuel Supply Agreement.

155. As a result of the Defendants’ conduct, Plaintiff has worked ten to twelve (10-12) hour days with little to no compensation for the past five (5) years to save his Business. 
156. As a result of the Defendants’ conduct, Plaintiff’s family members have worked considerable hours with little to no compensation to help save Plaintiff’s Business.

157. As a result of the Defendants’ conduct, Plaintiff has liquidated virtually every asset attained during his lifetime to save his Business.

158. As a result of the Defendants’ conduct, Plaintiff has borrowed considerable sums of money on credit to save his Business.

159. As a result of the Defendants’ conduct Plaintiff has borrowed against all of the equity in his home to save his Business.

160. As a result of the Defendants’ conduct, Plaintiff has provided unlimited personal guarantees to obtain funds to save his Business.

161. As a result of the Defendants’ conduct, Plaintiff’s physical and mental health has considerably deteriorated. 

162. As a result of the Defendants’ conduct, Plaintiff’s Business is subject to imminent foreclosure.

163. As a result of the Defendants’ conduct, Plaintiffs remaining assets are subject to imminent seizure.

164. As a result of the Defendants’ conduct, Plaintiff’s livelihood has been ruined.
COUNT ONE

(Fraud)

(The Defendant Sellers)

165. Plaintiff repeats and re-alleges paragraphs 1-164 as though fully set forth herein.

166. The Defendant Sellers knew that a competing gas-station business would open next door to Plaintiff’s Business. 

167. The Defendant Sellers intentionally withheld this information from Plaintiff.

168. The Defendant Sellers provided Plaintiff with a sale and purchase agreement to purchase the Land and Business for ONE MILLION THREE HUNDRED SEVENTY-FOUR THOUSAND DOLLARS ($1,374,000.00).
169. The Defendant Sellers represented the value of the Land and Business to be ONE MILLION THREE HUNDRED SEVENTY-FOUR THOUSAND DOLLARS ($1,374,000.00).

170. The Defendant Seller’s representations were purposefully made and were intended to induce Plaintiff to pay to pay ONE MILLION THREE HUNDRED SEVENTY-FOUR THOUSAND DOLLARS ($1,374,000.00) for the Land and Business, significantly more than the Defendant Sellers knew the Land and Business were worth.

171. The Defendant Seller’s representations regarding the value of the Land and Business were material.

172. These Defendant Seller’s representations regarding the value of the Land and Business were false in fact, and known to be false by the Defendant Sellers.

173. The Defendant Sellers knew or should have known that their representations regarding the value of the Land and Business were false when made because the Defendant Sellers knew of the Special Land Use regarding the adjacent parcel upon which a competing gas station would be built.  
174. The Defendant Sellers knew or should have known that their representations regarding the value of the Land and Business were false when made because the Defendant Sellers knew of the Special Land Use regarding the adjacent parcels upon which a road would be built to wrap around Plaintiff’s Business and divert traffic from Lotz Road to the Knight Defendants gas station.  
175. The Defendant Sellers acted with oppression, fraud, and malice with the specific purpose and intent to induce Plaintiff to purchase the Land and Business for significantly more than they were worth.  

176. Plaintiff is therefore entitled to recover exemplary damages from the Defendant Sellers in an amount to be proven at trial.
COUNT TWO
(Fraudulent Concealment) 

(The Defendant Sellers)

177. Plaintiff repeats and re-alleges paragraphs 1-176 as though fully set forth herein.

178. Upon information and belief the Defendant Sellers intentionally concealed the following material facts from Plaintiff:

-
That the Knight Defendant’s competing gas station was under construction and/or soon to be constructed.

-
That a road would be constructed, which would wrap around Plaintiff ’s Business to divert traffic from Lotz Road to the Knight Defendants gas station.

-
That the foregoing adversely and severely affected the present and future value of the Land and Business proposed for sale to Plaintiff.

· That upon purchasing the Land and Business, Plaintiff would suffer imminent losses from the Business and would continue to suffer losses in the future. 

179. Upon information and belief, the Defendant Sellers were aware or should have been aware of the foregoing material facts regarding the present and future value of the Land and Business.

180. Upon information and belief, the failure to disclose the foregoing material facts regarding the present and future value of the Land and Business was done with the intent to induce Plaintiff to pay ONE MILLION THREE HUNDRED SEVENTY-FOUR THOUSAND DOLLARS ($1,374,000.00) for the Land and Business, significantly more than the Defendant Sellers knew the Land and Business were worth.  Plaintiff, at the time of the fraudulent concealment of the foregoing material facts, had less than thirty (30) days to accept the deal at the Defendant Seller’s asking price and was further unaware of the material facts which the Defendant Sellers concealed and could not reasonably have discovered those facts.  If Plaintiff had been aware of the existence of the material facts not disclosed by the Defendant Sellers, Plaintiff would not have entered into the Purchase Agreement or the Brand Covenant. 

181. As a proximate result of the Defendant Seller’s fraudulent concealment of the foregoing material facts, Plaintiff was induced to pay and did pay the Defendant Sellers ONE MILLION THREE HUNDRED SEVENTY-FOUR THOUSAND DOLLARS ($1,374,000.00) for the Land and Business.

182. The Defendant Sellers acted with oppression, fraud, and malice with the specific purpose and intent to induce Plaintiff to purchase the Land and Business for significantly more than they were worth.  

183. Plaintiff is therefore entitled to recover exemplary damages from the Defendant Sellers in an amount to be proven at trial.
COUNT THREE

(Breach of the Implied Covenant of Good Faith and Fair Dealing)

(The Defendant Sellers)

184. Plaintiff repeats and re-alleges paragraphs 1-183 as though fully set forth herein

185. Plaintiff leased and operated the Business from the Defendant Sellers for approximately ten (10) years pursuant to the Lease and Franchise Agreement.

186. Plaintiff purchased the Land and Business from the Defendant Sellers in 2004 pursuant to the Purchase Agreement.

187. The Defendant Sellers bound Plaintiff to a ten (10) year brand covenant regarding the Business whereby Plaintiff was required to purchase a minimum of one hundred ninety-two thousand (192,000) gallons of fuel product per month from the Defendant Sellers.

188. The Lease and Franchise Agreement, Purchase Agreement, and Brand Covenant imposed duties of good faith and fair dealing between the Defendant Sellers and Plaintiff.

189. The Defendant Sellers breached the duties of good faith and fair dealing by intentionally/recklessly, unjustly, and wrongfully failing to challenge and/or object to Special Land Use approval.

190. The Defendant Sellers further breached the duties of good faith and fair dealing by intentionally/recklessly, unjustly, and wrongfully failing to alert Plaintiff to the proposed Special Land Use.

191. The Defendant Sellers further breached the duties of good faith and fair dealing by failing to take any action whatsoever to challenge and/or prevent Special Land Use approval.

192. The Defendant Sellers further breached the duties of good faith and fair dealing by fraudulently, unjustly, and wrongfully concealing and withholding material information from Plaintiff regarding the proposed Special Land Use.

193. The Defendant Sellers further breached the duties of good faith and fair dealing by fraudulently, unjustly, and wrongfully concealing and withholding material information from Plaintiff regarding the present and future value of the Land and Business.
194. The Defendant Sellers further breached the duties of good faith and fair dealing by intending to fraudulently, unjustly, and wrongfully induce Plaintiff to pay them significantly more than the Land and Business were worth.

195. The Defendant Sellers further breached the duties of good faith and fair dealing by fraudulently, unjustly, and wrongfully inducing Plaintiff to pay them significantly more than the Land and Business were worth.

196. The Defendant Sellers further breached the duties of good faith and fair dealing by fraudulently, unjustly, and wrongfully inducing Plaintiff to sign a ten (10) year brand covenant whereby Plaintiff was required to purchase a minimum of one hundred ninety-two thousand (192,000) gallons of fuel product per month from the Defendant Sellers when the Defendant Sellers knew that Plaintiff would be unable to meet this quota because of the Knight Defendants impending gas station.

197. The Defendant Sellers acted knowingly, intentionally, and with deliberate indifference and/or disregard for Plaintiff’s rights.

198. The Defendant Sellers were deliberately indifferent to and/or wholly disregarded the destruction of Plaintiff’s business. 

199. The Defendant Sellers bad faith and unfair dealing has deprived Plaintiff of the rights and benefits expected under the Purchase Agreement and the Fuel Supply Agreement. 

200. The Defendant Sellers bad faith and unfair dealing has bankrupt Plaintiff and his Business.

201. The Defendant Sellers acted with oppression, fraud, and malice with the specific purpose and intent to induce Plaintiff to purchase the Land and Business for significantly more than they were worth.  

202. Plaintiff is therefore entitled to recover exemplary damages from the Defendant Sellers in an amount to be proven at trial.
COUNT FOUR

(Negligence)

(The Defendant Sellers)
203. Plaintiff repeats and re-alleges paragraphs 1-202 as though fully set forth herein
204. The Defendant Sellers owed a duty of care to Plaintiff regarding Plaintiffs leasehold and franchise interest in the Land and Business.

205. The Defendant Sellers breached the duty of care owed to Plaintiff.

206. The Defendant Sellers owed a duty of care to Plaintiff regarding certain of the disclosures and representations during contained in the Purchase Agreement and Fuel Supply Agreement. 

207. The Defendant Sellers breached the duty of care owed to the Plaintiff.

208. The Defendant Sellers negligence has directly and proximately caused Plaintiff to suffer significant damages. 

209. The Defendant Sellers acts and omissions were egregious and outrageous, and were undertaken with oppression, fraud, and malice.

210. Plaintiff is therefore entitled to recover exemplary damages from the Defendant Sellers in an amount to be proven at trial.
COUNT FIVE

(Concert of Action)
(Defendant Falzone, Defendant Ventura, the Knight Defendants, the Commissioner Defendants, and the Trustee Defendants)

(Collectively, the “Conspirator Defendants”)
211. Plaintiff repeats and re-alleges paragraphs 1-210 as though fully set forth herein.

212. Upon information and belief, the Knight Defendants acted in concert with Defendant Falzone and Defendant Ventura pursuant to a common design to use Defendant Falzone to improperly and unlawfully influence the Defendant Commissioners and the Defendant Trustees to grant Special Land Use approval.  Upon further information and belief, once Special Land Use approval was obtained, the Knight Defendants would award valuable architectural and/or developmental contracts to Defendant Falzone and/or Defendant Ventura.

213. Upon further information and belief, the Conspirator Defendants acted in concert pursuant to a common design to improperly, unjustly, unlawfully, and wrongfully approve the Special Land Use.
214. Upon further information and belief, the Conspirator Defendants acted in concert to maliciously, unjustly, unlawfully, and wrongfully destroy Plaintiff’s Business for their own gain.

215. The Conspirator Defendants acted in concert pursuant to a common design to conceal their actions from Plaintiff. 

216. The concerted action alleged herein was undertaken with oppression, fraud, and malice to improperly, unjustly, unlawfully, and wrongfully obtain Special Land Use approval.  

217. Plaintiff is therefore entitled to recover exemplary damages from the Conspirator Defendants in an amount to be proven at trial.
COUNT SIX
(Civil Conspiracy)

 (The “Conspirator Defendants”)
218. Plaintiff repeats and re-alleges paragraphs 1-217 as though fully set forth herein

219. Upon information and belief, the Conspirator Defendants acted in concert to improperly, unjustly, unlawfully, and wrongfully approve the Special Land Use.

220. Upon information and belief, the Knight Defendants acted in concert with Defendant Falzone and Defendant Ventura to improperly, unjustly, unlawfully, and wrongfully influence the Defendant Commissioners and the Defendant Trustees to grant Special Land Use approval.  Upon further information and belief, once Special Land Use approval was obtained, the Knight Defendants would award valuable architectural and/or developmental contracts to Defendant Falzone and/or Defendant Ventura.

221. Upon further information and belief, the Conspirator Defendants acted in concert to maliciously, unjustly, unlawfully, and wrongfully destroy Plaintiff’s Business for their own gain.

222. The Conspirator Defendants acted in concert pursuant to a common design to conceal their actions from Plaintiff. 

223. The conspiracy alleged herein was undertaken with oppression, fraud, and malice to improperly, unjustly, unlawfully, and wrongfully obtain Special Land Use approval.  

224. Plaintiff is therefore entitled to recover exemplary damages from the Conspirator Defendants in an amount to be proven at trial.

COUNT SEVEN

(Wrongful Land Use Regulation – Title 42 Section 1983)

(The Defendant Township)

225. Plaintiff repeats and re-alleges paragraphs 1-224 as though fully set forth herein.

226. Plaintiff was the operator and subsequent owner of the Land and Business, which are the subject matter of this litigation.

227. The Defendant Township’s failure to notify Plaintiff regarding the proposed Special Land Use violated Plaintiff’s Due Process rights under the Constitution of the United States of America.

228. The Defendant Township’s improper and wrongful Special Land Use approval violated Plaintiff’s right to due process under the Constitution of the United States of America.
229. The Defendant Township’s improper and wrongful Special Land Use approval has permanently and severely devalued Plaintiff’s Land and Business.

230. The Defendant Township’s improper and wrongful Special Land Use approval constitutes a “taking” of Plaintiff’s property.

231. Plaintiff has not received just compensation for this “taking.”

232. Plaintiff continues to suffer losses stemming from the permanent and severe devaluation of his Land and Business.

233. The wrongful land use regulation alleged herein was undertaken with oppression, fraud, and malice to improperly, unjustly, unlawfully, and wrongfully obtain Special Land Use approval.

234. Plaintiff is therefore entitled to recover punitive damages in an amount to be determined at trial.  
COUNT EIGHT
(Unjust Enrichment)
(All Defendants)

235. Plaintiff repeats and re-alleges paragraphs 1-234 as though fully set forth herein
236. As a result of the Defendant Seller’s affirmative fraud, fraudulent concealment, and/or negligence, the Defendants Sellers have been unjustly enriched at Plaintiff’s expense.

237. As a result of the Conspirator Defendants concerted action to improperly, unjustly, unlawfully, and wrongfully obtain Special Land Use approval, the Conspirator Defendants have been unjustly enriched at Plaintiff’s expense.

238. As a result of the Conspirator Defendants conspiracy to improperly, unjustly, unlawfully, and wrongfully obtain Special Land Use approval, the Conspirator Defendants have been unjustly enriched at Plaintiff’s expense.

239. As a result of the Conspirator Defendants concerted action to maliciously, unjustly, unlawfully, and wrongfully destroy Plaintiff’s Business, the Conspirator Defendants have been unjustly enriched at Plaintiff’s expense.

240. As a result of the Conspirator Defendants conspiracy to maliciously, unjustly, unlawfully, and wrongfully destroy Plaintiff’s Business, the Conspirator Defendants have been unjustly enriched at Plaintiff’s expense.
241. As a result of the Defendant Township’s taking of Plaintiff’s property, the Defendant Township has been unjustly enriched at Plaintiff’s expense.

COUNT NINE
(Exemplary Damages)
(All Defendants)

242. Plaintiff repeats and re-alleges paragraphs 1-241 as though fully set forth herein.
243. During the time pertinent to this Complaint, the Defendant Sellers acted with oppression, fraud, and malice with the specific purpose and intent to unjustly, unlawfully, and wrongfully induce Plaintiff to purchase the Land and Business for significantly more than they were worth.

244. The Defendant Sellers oppressive, willful and wanton conduct demonstrated their reckless disregard for Plaintiff.
245. The Defendant Sellers oppressive, willful and wanton conduct was motivated by their pure greed.
246. The Defendant Seller’s oppressive, willful and wanton conduct has caused Plaintiff to suffer severe emotional distress, fear, mental and physical anxiety, indignity, insult, and outrage.
247. During the time pertinent to this Complaint, the Conspirator Defendants acted with oppression, fraud, and malice to improperly, unjustly, unlawfully, and wrongfully obtain Special Land Use approval. 
248. The Conspirator Defendants malicious, oppressive, unjust, unlawful, wrongful, and willful and wanton conduct demonstrated their reckless disregard for Plaintiff.
249. The Conspirator Defendants malicious, oppressive, unjust, unlawful, wrongful, and willful and wanton conduct was motivated by their pure greed and desire to destroy Plaintiff’s Business for the benefit of the Knight Defendants.
250. The Conspirator Defendants malicious, oppressive, unjust, unlawful, wrongful, and willful and wanton conduct was motivated by their pure greed and desire to destroy Plaintiff’s Business for their own improper, unlawful and wrongful pecuniary gain.
251. The Defendants’ oppressive, willful and wanton conduct has caused Plaintiff to suffer severe emotional distress, fear, marital difficulties, mental and physical anxiety, indignity, insult, and outrage.
PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully requests this Honorable Court grant Judgment in his favor and against the Defendants for the following:

1.
Compensatory and/or restitution damages in an amount to be proven at trial; 

2.
Exemplary damages in an amount to be proven at trial;

3.
Punitive damages in an amount to be proven at trial;

4.
Costs, interest and attorney fees; and

5.
Such other and further relief as may be just, proper and allowable, including, pre-judgment and post-judgment interest and the costs of this suit.

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED this ____ day of June, 2010

______________________________

Robert A. Hadous

HADOUSCO. PLLC

16030 Michigan Avenue, Suite 200







Dearborn, Michigan 48126
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ORIGINAL of the foregoing filed this ____ day of June, 2010 with:

Clerk of the Court

Wayne County Circuit Court
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